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HAMILTON HEIGHTS HISTORIC DISTRICT, Borough of Manhattan,

BOUNDARIES

The property bounded by the northern property lines of 475 through 453 West
144th Street, the western property lines of 348 through 356 Convent Avenue,
West 145th Strect, the eastern property line of 351 Convent Avenue, part of
the northern property line of 425 'lest 144th Street, the northern property
lines of 423 through 413 llest 144th Street, the eastern property line of

413 Vlest 144th Street, lamilton Terrace, the northern, castern, and part

of the southern property lines of 51 llamilton Terrace, the eastern property
lines of 49 through 39 lHamilton Terrace, part of the southern property line
of 39 Hamilton Terrace, the eastern property lines of 37 through 33 Hamilton
Terrace, part of the northern, the eastern, and part of the southern property
lines of 31 liamilton Terrace, the eastern property lines of 29 through

21 ilanilton Terrace, parts of the successive northern and eastern property
lines of 19-13 Hamilton Terrace, the northern property line of 409 l'lest 141st
Street, St. Hicholas Avenue, !lest 141st Street, the eastern property line of
452 'lest 141st Street, the ecastern property line of 453 "est 140th Street,
"lest 140th Street, the western property line of 475 llest 140th Street, part
of the southern, 2and the western property lines of 474 !lest 141st Street,
West 141st Street, the western property line of 475 West 141st Street, part
of the southern, and the western property lines of 476 'lest 142nd Street,
Yest 142nd Street, Convent Avenue, the northern property line of 287 Convent
Avenue, the western property lines of 4 through 36 Hamilton Terrace, part of
the western property line of 38 Hamilton Terrace, the southern property line
of 311 Convent Avenue, Convent Avenue, "est 143rd Street, the western
property line of 475 lest 143rd Street, the western property line of 474 llest

144th Street, ‘lest 144th Street, and the western property line of 475 Yest
144th Street.

TESTIIONY AT PUBLIC [EARINGS

On October 8, 1974, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a
public hearing on the proposed designation of this Historic District
(Item No. 5). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the
provisions of law. Five persons spoke in favor of the proposed designation,
and no one spoke against it. The witnesses favoring designation clearly
indicated that there is great support for this Historic District from the
property owners and the residents of Hamilton lleights. In 1966, the Com-
mission had held a public hearing on the proposed designation of a Hamilton
Heipghts District.
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HASIILTO:N HEIGHTS HISTORIC DISTRICT

HISTORIC IXTRODUCT

The land on wvhich the Historic District is located was part of the
Comman Land of Yarlem and know as Jochem Pietersen's Hills. Jochem Tietersen
¥urter was a Dane vho, in 1937, was oranted a L0OO zscre farm on the flat lands
at the foot of these nills. Tn the mid 1650s hoth Pietersen and his wife were
killed by Indians vho claired all of the lands nprth of 130th Street to “puvten
Duyvel. The Tndiazn claims were finally settled in 1715 wvhen a srecial tax
was raised Ty the freeholders of Yarlem to pav for the land.

Durine~ the 18th centurv, neorthern Manhattan attracted realthv merchants
of Tewr Yorlk Citv vho Wailt countrv seats there hecause of the heautiful views
it offered. The area in the Tistoric District north of 1U2nd Street was
vithin the estate of John "faunsell, 2 reneral in the British Armv  who
was granted the npropertv a2hout 173 bhecause of the mart he nlaved in the
stormins of “avana Cuha, in 17€62. ‘“Maunsell laft this countrv in 1775 osten-
sihly to renort to the British Covernment orn conditions in the “e'r York
cclonv. Tut. in his mersonal corresnondance, “aunsell states that the
reel reason he left ew York was to avoid taking un arms acainst the
Americans manv of vhom vere his mrersonal friends. WFe returned hriefly in
1775 to bring his wife Tlizaheth Stillwell, an American., hack to Tritain.
“‘aunsell returned to Tew Yorl in 1784, where he died in 170“

MDurine the Revolution a numbher of redouhts and hreastworks were built
just north of the Tistoric District. Three redoubts flanked Amsterdam Avenue
betreen 14Eth and 1LOth “treets, and three others flanved Rroadway hetween
1L5th and 1LhOth “treets. They were interconnected by a maze of breastworks
that gstretched from the Hudson River to St. Tichoclasz Avenue just north of
1L6th “treet. The Nistrict is located within the area vthere the Rattle of
Tarlem Heights was fourht in 1774, The battle raged hetireen 130th and
155th Streets and proved to he a victorv for the Americans. The importance
of the victory lay not so much in its stratersic value, but in the invig--
oratins effect that it had on the morale of the American forces wvho, until
that time thad fared hadly in their encounters with the “ritish.

At the beginnin~ of the 12th centurv the area comprised hv the Fistoric
District becafe nart of the prorerty of Mlexander Hamilton, who built his
countrvy seat. The “range., in 1801 near the scutheast corner of 1kh3rd

Street and Amsterdam Avenue. We named 'The francse after the ancestral

seat of his prandfather in Scotland, and moved his farilwv there in the svring
of 1802. The house was moved to its present location in 1880,

Hamilton was horn in the “est Tndies in 1757 but left the islands in
1772 to further his education. Tn 177Lh he entered Colurhia. then Vine's
Collese and became noted as an orator ard a namrhleteer. MHis strone re
snect for central authoritv limited him to denouncing the excesses of
Parliavent while affirmin- his allesience to the Ving, an asrect of his con-
servative nolitical nhilosonhv vhich remained constant throuchout his life.
The main thrust of his service during the Revolutionarv Tar was administra--
tive rather than militarv. Servines for four vears as Vashinaton's
secretary he re-orranized the Continental Armv, Adrewr un a system of regu -
lations for it and conducted all the corresrondence with Congress.

As a result of a rerrimand from "ashinston, he resiened in 1781,
e returned to Wew York, served in Congress in 1782.833 and settled dovn to
a legal practice in the Citv, aided no doubt. hv the connections of his
wife Tlizabeth the dau~hter of Philip Schuvler; a member of one of the most
distinsuished Yew York families. Convinced of the sreakness of the
central povernment set up by the Articles of Confederation, he heran
aritating to make it stronser. In 1787 he was elected to the Yew York
Lerislature and was a membher of the State's delegation to the Second Con-
stitutional Conventation in Fhiladelnhia. Althourh the constitution that
was drafted there fell short of his desires, he devoted a great deal of energy
to its ratification, servins as co-author with James Madison and John Jav
of the Federalist Papers, a detailed explanation of the new constitution
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and its virtues. These efforts guaranteed him a post in the new govern-
ment.

As the first Secretary of the Treasury, a post to which he was named
by President Washington, he demonstrated the same talents that had marked
his tenure as Washington's secretary. He convinced Congress to assume the
entire war debt, to impose severe taxes in order to cover it, and to estab-
lish the first Bunk of the United States. His attempts to influence the
foreign policy, however, brought him into conflict with Thomas Jefferson,
then Secretary of State., In 1795, financial pressures caused Hamilton to re-
sign from the Cabinet. His service as Inspector General of the Army in 1798-—
1800 was his last public office.

Although out of public office, Hamilton continued to try to influence
policy through his personal contacts in the Cabinet of President Adams, and
this led to a falling out between the two., In 1801, after the deadlocked
election of the previous year, he overcame his dislike of Jefferson and sup-
ported him over Aaron Burr, whom he considered ambitious and ruthless. In
1804, Hamilton involved himself in politics one final time, vigorously and
successfully opposing Burr's candidacy for governor of New York. The long
history of animosity between the two men culminated in some statements at-
tributed to Hamilton by Dr. Charles Cooper which Burr considered libelous;
Burr demanded satisfaction, and a duel was fought on July 11, 1804, in
Weehawken, New Jersey., Hamilton was shot in the duel and died the next
day. He is buried in Trinity Church Graveyard.

Hamilton's life at “"The Grange" encompassed the least political period
of his life, Jefferson was President, and Hamilton had no influence in the
Cabinet. He once again retired to his private law practice, enjoying what he
called the "life of a common citizen and good paterfamilias."™ He left his
wife .nd seven children, to whom he had written in 1803, the year before he
died, "You see that I do not forget the Grange...nor anyone who inhabits it."

The District remained largely rural until 1879, when Upper Manhattan be-
gan to develop as an urban area, as a result of the extension of rapid tran-
sit north of 125th Street along Iight avenue. The "Great West Side Move-
ment" is generally considered to have begun in 1879, but in 1880 the devel-
opment of the West Side was still largely restricted to individual entre-
preneurs. Slowly, however, in the early 1880s speculative builders were
attracted to the liest Side. The demand for residential dwellings there had
burgeoned as a result of the overflow from the Fast Side, where land values
had increased spectacularly. Two large sales of former estates, known as the
Carman sale and the Jumel sale, also speeded the opening of the area to de-
velopment. All of the row houses, and low-rise apartment houses within the
District were built within a twenty-year period between 1886 and 1906, as a
prime residential neighborhood. Following the completion of the College of

the City of New York in 1907, many staff members and professors resided in the
Historic District.

The evolution of Black Harlem began after the building boom in Harlem
and upper Manhattan came to a halt in 1907, when a financial panic left many
newly constructed residences vacant, Phillip A. Fayton, a realtor with
offices on lWest 133rd Street, persuaded many owners to sell or rent their
vacant properties to Black families who were living in Manhattan's liest 50s,
a section of Hell's Kitchen known as San Juan Hill. Demographic changes in
Harlem were speeded by World War I when many Blacks from the South and from
the West Indies migrated north looking for industrial jobs. This migration
continued after the war due to economic opportunities in the North. Another
important influence in the movement of Black families from other areas of the
City into Harlem was St. Philip's P. E. Church. The church, which had moved

to West 134th Street in 1911, bought property in the area and rented it to
Black families.

Affluent Black families began moving into the Historic District and the
surrounding area in the early 1930s, during the Depression. Many of these
first families to move into the District still live in Hamilton Heights.
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The pride of the residents in their District is expressed not only in
the generally excellent maintenance of the individual houses, but in the
streets as well, A Mollie Parnis award was granted this year in recog-
nition of the work of beautification along Convent Avenue, an activity
which is now being extended to Hamilton Terrace. The Block Associations
have been instrumental in promoting a2 sense of community pride and unity
of action throughout the District.

The Hamilton Heights Historic District continues to have a wide appeal
as a fine residential neighborhood and counts among its citizens many
people who are active in the political, legal, medical and artistic life
of the City.
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PCUITECTURAL INTRODUCTION

Hamilton lleights is a quiet residential community of outstanding
architectural guality which retains nuch of its late 19th and early 20th
century atnosphere. £As one enters the District on Convent Avenue at
140th Strect after passing throuch the gateway of the City College campus,
one is immediately aware of an area which constitutes a scparate, self-
contained entity within the larger fabric of the City. Convent Avenue,
which is the spine of the District, was originally a dead-cend street ter-
minatiny at 145th Street. !lamilton Terrace, to the cast of Convent Avenue,
is still . ¢ .~ --udstreet, terninating at St. Hicholas Park at its south end
and at 144th Street at the north. In addition, the eastern end of 144th
Street teriiinates at hia—ilton Terrace. Thus, the unusual street nattern
creates an impression of a protected enclave--an oasis within the City.

Until the early 1880s. the area that was comprised by the liistoric
District was a quiet, rural retreat which was almost coimnletely undeveloped.
iiazilton Grance still stood at its original locatinn, between Amsterdan
and Convent Avenues, on the south side of 143rcd Strect. The Colored
Orphan Asylun occupied :wost of the block between 143rd and 144th Streets
bounded by the present !'amilton Place and Iroadway. To the south of the
Iistoric District, the Convent of the Sacred !leart--which gave its name to
Convent Avenue--still occunied a larce tract in 1272, then bounded rouchly
by the present 126th and 137th Streets on the south and north and by
St. ilicholas Terrace and Convent Avenue on the cast and west, part of which
is now the site of the South Carpus of City Colle-e.

ilamilton leights today is still an exclusively residential neighbor-
hood. Its pleasant tree-shaded avenues are lined with row upon row of
three- and four-story houses, for the most part set behind raised stone
terraces which separate the front yards from the street. The few apartment
houses within the boundaries of the !fistoric District are in scale with the
row houses. In some cases, opposite sides of the sane street were planned
by the same architects and/or developers, contributing to the unusually
harrmonious quality and special character of this District. The three
churches within the District--3t. Luke's on Convent Avenue and 1l41lst
Street, the Convent Avenue Zantist Church at 145th Street, and St. James'
Presbyterian Church on St. iiicholas Avenue and 141st Street--are all
corner buildings and serve not only to delineate its boundaries but add a
nicturesque verticality to this generally low-rise District.

The developnent of the area was larnsely concentrated between 1386 and
1906, with only a few buildinos erected at a later date. Construction
began near thie northern end of the District, when row houses were built
along the north side of 144th Street, between Convent Avenue and Ansterdar:
Avenue and along the est side of Convent Avenue between 1441 and 145t
Streets. This was no doubt influenced by the easy access to public
transportation; the E1° station was at 145th Street and Eishth Avenue.
The last of the early houses in the District were built in 1205-06 on
the north side of 140th Street between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues, with
only a very few buildings erected at a later date.

To surmarize the actual physical development of the District and the
architectural styles of the twenty years between 1886 and 1906, the con-
tributions of several architects--notably /illia:: E. jlowbray, Adolph lioak,
"illian Strod:, Robert Kelly, ilenri Foucheaux, and ieville § Bange--will be
discussed.

"illian E. lfowbray, an architect who later designed a splendid row
of turn-of-the-century residences in the Riverside-‘lest 105th Street
Historic District, was larcely responsible for the planning and development
of 'lest 144th Street betwecen Convent and Ansterdam Avenues. The open
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appearance of this street and the handsome rows of houses--set well back
along both sides of the street behind raised terraces which separate- the
front yards from the sidewalk--make this one of the most architecturally
notable in the District. The overall design of these houses was carefully
adapted to conformi to the upward slope of the street from Convent Avenue

to Ansterdam. As a qroup, these residences are the nost nicturesque in the
District, displaying a variety of building nmaterials, colors, textures, and
rooflines w-ich adds immensely to its visual immact. The influence of Dutch
and Flemish architectural traditions is imnediately evident in the gabled
roofs, but the Romanesque, Gothic, and Tudor styles were the predominant
inspiration for the architect.

ilowbray's eisht residences at Hos. 453-467 on the north side of the

street, built between 1886 and 1890, are among the earliest houses in the
District, sharing this distinction with two houses of an original group of
four, which originally extended from the corner mansion at the intersection
of West 144th Street to No. 34G Convent Avenue. These houses are more French
Renaissance in character, deronstrating the versatility of the architects of
this period, who drew upon the nost varied architectural traditions for
their designs. The develomment of the entire south side of this section of
144th Street, in contrast to the north side, was financed by 'lilliam
De Forest, Jr., a silk imnorter who nplayed an important part in the | _v_1: -
ot on t. familton cstate. ile lived in one of a four-house Romanesque
Revival row of 1887-39 toviard Amsterdan Avenue (Mlos. 463-474), designed by
Harvey L. Page. The eisht row houses at rlos. 452-466 were designed by
ilowbray and erected for e Forest in 1390, conplementing "lowbray'’s houses
on the north side of this strcet.

The blockfronts facin:s each other on Convent Avenue, between 143rd
and 144th Streets, provide another architectural hishlight within this
interesting District. The fifteen-house row on the =ast side--the lonrest
irn the District--was erected between 1837 and 1890 for Jacob D. butler, a
realtor who lived on Convent Avenue below the District. The architect was
Adolph lioak. Again, a variety of styles is represented by these houses,
which include the Flemish, Tudor, and Romanesque Revivals. Attention focusecs
irmmediately upon the diversity of the rooflines silhouetted against the sky,
a factor = which contributes to the picturesque charm of these houses.
The long row is very cleverly planned, with an alternation of materials,
styles and decorative detail. The late PRomanesque Revival wmansion at No. 339,
which terminates the row, is without doubt one of the finest examples of
this style in the City. 2n the west side of the street, the blockfront is
divided into two rows desirned in differinrs styles, yet harmonizing with
each other. ilos. 320-328, erected in 1890 and desi~ned by ilorace B.
ilartwell, are late Romanesque Revival in style. The adjoining row, com-
prising Nos. 330-336, built for ¥illiam iI. De Forest, Jr., is quite different
in desisn. Robert Dry, his architect, who used brick with brownstone to
sirulate half-ti burin~,nade the most of the Inclish medieval and Tudor
traditions to provide a picturesque group of houses, terminating in a large
nansion at lo. 336, Tt complements the splendid turreted Romanesque
Pevival mansion onposite on the east side of the street.

Hamilton Terrace, a long sloning street, nrovides a charmins enclave
within the ilistoric District. The vista looking southward is dominated by
the nassive Gothic-style tower of City College rising above the grassy slope
and tree tops of St. MNicholas Park. The street is lined on both sides by
long rows of houses which again display a fascinating variety. Despite this
variety, however, there are certain unifying elements, includine the roof
cornices and the retention of most stoops. The rables and cornices reflect
the rising slope of the street toward 144th Ctrect. Town houses on the
east side are enframed at each end by low apartment houses, those at the
north being outside the iiistoric District. ©On the west side, the southern
end is dominated by the high apse of St. Luke's Church.
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The row houses on iHanilton Terrace were erccted in the late 1390s and
zenerally reflect a later phase in the stylistic development of the period.
The modest three-story brick houses, adjrcent to the corner of 141lst Street,
were built in 1895 for Alice Davies. They werc designed by the architect
Andrew Spence, who had his office on 125th Street, and was involved in The
“ount Horris Park ilistoric District. These houses on Hanilton Terrace are
good examples of the vernacular architecture of the period. The two long
rows of residences which occupy the remaird:r of the east side, flciaked by
apartizent houses, date from 1897-99. WNos. 21-37 and 39-49 were built for
“illiam Strom, an architect, and designed in association with the architect
Robert Kelly. The houses are handsome exarples of the popular neo-
Renaissance style of the 1890s and generally were planned with facades al-
ternating between swell- and flush-fronts. The west side of (lamilton
Terrace is dominated by a long row of fourteen dirnified residences which
were erected in 1898 for Gustavus L. Lawrence, a produce nerchant who lived
just west of the [listoric District, and was very active in its development.
His architects were always :leville § lagse, whose offices were on 125th
Street. They also designed many houses in the ifount ilorris Park [istoric
District and an apartment house in the Jumel Terrace ilistoric District.
llere, on lianilton Terrace, ileville § Banoe combined the picturesque
Romanesque Revival style with classical, Renaissance and neo-Georgian
elenents. Farther up the street is 2 second long row, at Hos. 40-60,
dating fron the same time, but desisned by still another architect who was
active elsewhere in the District--Henri Foucheaux. Foucheaux lived farther
uptown in i‘ashington iicights and also worked in the Jurel Terrace iistoric
District. riiere, the architect varied the facades from house to house
using four basic desicns. Typical of the eclectic period is the combination
of classical, Renaissance, and even lingering traces of the Romanesque
Revival styles. The blockfront terminates in a handsorme residence crowned
by a French mansard roof which is the end house of an impressive row on
"lest 144th Street, between [lamilton Terrace and Convent Avenue. Erected
in 1897 by ilenry . Powell, a neighborhood builder, the row was designed
by HNeville & BCapgse.

Cy 1904-06, when the firn of ileville § Dagge designed the last rows of
buildings in the {dstoric District--all for Gustavus L. Lawrence--they had
adopted a simplified Beaux-Arts style, as nay be scen at Nos. 453-465 llest
140th Street and at ilos. 452-474 ‘lest 141st Street, back to back with then.
Their twelve houses on 141st Street, with red brick facades alternating with
those of off-white Roman brick or of limestone, offer a lively color scheme
and a variety of decorative motifs. Across the street, the row of the
neighborhood architect, John iiauser, of 1906 is quite similar and was no
doubt planned in rclation to themn.

These houses, spanning two decades, thus illustrate the chief successive
architectural styles of the tine: the Romanesque Revival, Flemish, Dutch
and occasional “ueen Anne influence, the French and Italian Renaissance
modes and Classical style of the later 1890s, and, finally, the Beaux-Arts,
dominant in the early 20th century.

In addition to its fine residential architecture, the District has
three handsome churches which delineate its boundaries. The earliest,
St. Luke's Episcopal Church, was built in 18$2-95 and was originally meant
to replace St. Luke's in Greenwich Villace. This nagnificent structure,
massive in scale and volune, was desirned by Robert il. Robertson, one of
[lanhattan's leading church architects. [ie was an associate of the
distinguished architect illian Appleton Potter, and he also designed
St. Martin’s Church in the ilount Morris Park !istoric District. St. Luke's,
entered near the corner of 141st Street and Convent Avenue, is one of the
most impressive Romanesque Revival churches in the City.

Alnost overshadowed by the church is the small white house at Ho. 287
Convent Avenue--liamilton Grange. Built in 18C1 for Alexander Hamilton, it is
one of the few surviving Federal style country residences in the City, and its
design has been attributed to John j1cComb, Jr., best known as the co-
architect of City iiall. It has been operated as a house nuseun by the

1,

National Park Service since 1965.
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(Guite different in style from St. Luke's is the lisht-colored and more
graceful Convent Avenue Baptist Church of 18397-99. It was designed in the
neo-Gothic style by the well-known architectural firm of Lamb § Rich. In
design and massing, it makes the most of its conspicuous corner site at
the intersection of 145th Street and Convent Avenue. It was originally
built for the congregation of the ashington Heights Baptist Church.

The neo-Gothic St. James Presbyterian Church, on the northwest corner
of 141st Street and St. liicholas Avenue, was originally called the Lenox
Presbyterian Church. It was built in 1904 according to the designs of
Ludlow § Valentine. Viewed from across the street, on St. Micholas Avenne,
it creates a picturesque image appropriate for the visitor to Hamilton
keights approaching the District from the east.

Anong the nore recent structures in the Historic District are: the
former Lutheran iosrital, now the College View Nursing !ome at No. 425
est 144th Street, built in 1922 and 1930, a fine neo-Federal residence at
No. 51 Hianilton Terrace built in 1209; and an apartnent house on the sane
street at llo. 19 built in 1948-51. An addition to ilo. 340 Convent Avenue,
- once owned by the Little Sisters of the Assumption and now the property
_of the Greater Tabernacle 2aptist Church, was built as a convent in 1922.

There are also several schools in the ilistoric District which serve
the corrmunity. They include the Elizabeth ilayfield ilursery School at
No. 321 Convent Avenue where the Hamilton Grange Block Association meetings
are held, the Harlem School of the Arts adjacent to St. James Church at

do. 62 Hamilton Terrace, and the Baptist Educational Center at No. 354
Convent Avenue.

As one walks through ranilton Heiphts, there is hardly a street which
-does not offer a picturesque vista. Set apart from the busy thoroughfares
to the north, east and west, this residential community has a charming
character all its own which has been nreserved throughout the years.

Only a very few of the buildings have been altered by the smooth-stuccoing
of the original decorative detail, the refacing of house fronts, the
replacenent of roof cornices by masonry parapets, and of stoops by
basement entrances. The houses in the liamilton Heiehts Historic District
renain remarkably intact. Designation of the District will strengthen the
community by preventing further loss through a process of reviewing plans
for alteration and new construction. Designation is a major step towards
insuring the protection and enhancement of the quality and character of
the entire neighborhood.

-7a-
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SLNCY BY BINC!I DESCRIPTIN

WEST 140TH STRECT (Between Convent =nd Amsterdam Avenues)

HORTI. SIDE ™MLY (Hlos. 453-475)

This fine row of [eaux-Arts town houses creates a graceful rhythm
alona the strcet by means of its many curved and three-sided. three-story
bays. The first seven houses, lios. 453-465, were erected in 1905-06 for
the neighborhood develoner Gustavus L. Lawrence in association with the
architects, ileville § Barce, a firm responsible for the design of many
of the buildinss in the District. These houses are aquite similar to the
earlier row at ilos. 467-475. Poth srouns of buildings display brick
facades with limestone bases and decorative trin.

Mos. 453-465 are four stories high with English basements and are
nore ornate than their westerly neichbors. The doorways are treated in
an elaborate manncr, exhibitine finely carved Beaux-Arts details such as
cartouches and larse scroll brackets. A pattern o€ alternation is
established in this row with facades of red brick and curved fronts,
alternatine with those of buff brick, with three-sided bays and elegant
arched pediments at the second story. Many of the original wrought-iron
window grilles at the street level may still be seen., further enhancing
the character of this row.

Hos. 467-475 arc carlier buildings desiened by George Ebert and
erected for C. J. Dloonquist in 1901-02. They are only three stories
high with baseucnts. and are approached by hish stoons. &mall carved
heads, serving as keystones, are placed over the centers of the square-
headed doorways. The most elaborate featurcs of this row are the
foliate-patterned limestone nanels between the first and second stories,
and the swags and wreath designs of the metal roof cornices.

YEST 1415T STREET (Between St. MNicholas Avenue and llamilton Terrace)

HORTE! SIDE OHLY  (flos. 409-423)

(lo. 409-411. St. Jarmcs Presbyterian Church is described under

St. iicholas Avenue.)

Mos. 413-421. Adjacent to the nco-Gothic £t. Jares Presbyterian
Church is a row of five Romanesque Revival brownstone houses, onnosite
the nark, erected in 1892-93 according to the designs of John 7. Durne.
In style, the houses are related to St. Luke's Church. across the
street. They altcrnate between twe =znd three windows in width. The
buildines have rusticated basements and are apnroached by hich stoops:
that of No. 421 is L-shaned. The areaways arc apnroached between
inverted consoles. The doorways are distincuished by the deep pro-
jections of the crowning cornice slabs, set on foliate brackets. The
second and third stories of these houses nroject slichtly, and the
windows of the third stories are round-arched. The houses which are
three windows wide have engaped colonnettes characteristic of the
Romanesque style flankine the second story windows. The height of the
buildinzs accords with the steep slope of the streect, so that the
dentilled roof cornices are stepped un house by house.



[lamilton ‘'‘eichts !istoric District

YEST 141ST STPEET  (Between St. llficholas Avenue and Pamilton Terrace)

Ho. 423. This corner house of buff brick with its rouch-faced stone
basement provides the necessary visual accent to terninate this block, by
counterbalancina the church at tlic eastern end of the street. "ider than
the town houses to the east. it rrojects out beyond them, as the church
does at the botton of the hill. The house, built in 1895 as the end house
of a row of Ilamilton Terrace, is quite simmle in design with decorative
features provided by varyine natterns of brickwork. An L-shaned stoon
whichh has retained its original wroucht-iron hand railing leads to the
brownstone enframed doorways. A thrae-sided,  full-heisht corner bay pro-
vides an effective transition to the J'amilton Terracc row., The sheet-
netal roof cornice with foliate frieze and closely spaced console brackets
reflects the anpgled corncr of the housec.

JEST 141ST STREET  (Between iiamilton Terrace and Convent Avenue)

MORTY SIDE OHLY (o, 435)

(ft. Luke's Church. which occuriss this entire blockfront, is
described under Ho. 285 Convent Avcnue.)

"EST 141S€T STRELET (Between Convent and Arsterdam Avenues)

SOUTII CIDE  (ilos. 452-474)

There is a rorarkable deoree of coherence on both sides of this
street duc to the sinilarity of Jesisn, building materials and cornice
lines -- although the houses were desisned by two different architectural
firms.

Hlos. 452-474, This long row of twelve town houses werc built for
Gustavus L. Lawrcnce in 1904-05 after the desions of Neville § DBacse.
They are back-to-back with the houses built for the same owner on the north
side of 141st Strecet ond desioned in a sinilar Peaux-Arts style. The row
is particularly interesting because of the desisn natterns and decorative
variety exhibited by the facades.

ros. 452-460 alternate fron a red brick, swell-front with limestone
bands at the sccomnd and fourth stories, to an off-white Roman brick, full-
heipght, three-sided bay with round arches at the sccond stories and line-
stone trim. ifany of the doorways are eclesantly embellished by flanking
rrooved rilasters, cartouches, delicate erg-and-dart mouldines and pulvinat-
ed friezes.

fios. 462-464 continue this san¢ alternating scheme, but here the
facades are totally of limestone. The alternating rhythm is maintained
to the end of the row. The Nonan red brick facades with three-sided
bays are notable for the richly ornamented doorways and arched pedirments
crownine the sccond story center windows. The doorways are flanked by
elonzated brackets supporting cornice slabs, enframing decorative car-
touches. The houses of buff brick with swell-fronts are rore simply
ornariented with limestons spandrel panels and flutoed bandcourses with
circular motifs at the fourth story. The corbeled roof cornices of all
the red brick houses on this side of the strect arc crowned by pancled
parapets addine variety to this row.
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Hamilton Ileichts Historic District

YEST 1418T STREET (Betwecn Convent and Ansterdam Avenues)

NORTH SIDE  (Hos. 451-475)

(Ho. 451. The corner buildine is described under 280 Convent
Avenue.)

ilos. 453-475. These twelve brick town houses, with limestone first
stories, designed by John Hauser for the Picken Realty Co. and erected
in 1906, are quite similar to those across the strect and were, no doubt,
rlanned in relation to those houses. This row also shows the influence
of the Beaux-Arts style. ilere, too, there is also an alternatine
pattern between three-sided and curved bays and a striking contrast
between stone and red brick. The curved facades arc ornanented at the
fourth story by bands of limestone. Decorative featuraes of the three-
sided facades are of limestone and include foliate panels at the second
story, ornately pedinented centers at third story windows, and splayed
lintels with keystones at the top stories. The doorways echo those
across the street,.and are typical of the Beaux-Arts style with -
their lavish ornament including pilasters, large brackets, friezes and
cartouches. The finely detailed nolded enframements exhibit a wide
range of desisns. On this side of the street, all the houses retain
their low stoops with the original ornamented wing-walls. The handsome
facades and the graceful design of the sheet-metal roof cornices create
a pleasing architectural cnserble.

EST 142ND STREET Setween Convent 2nd Amsterdan Avenues)

SOUTE. SIDE OIILY (Hos. 450-476)

Hos. 452-476. This linestone row was crected in 1899-1500 for
Miss Della Etevens according to desions in the neo-Romanesque style by
George ''. Spitzer. The twelve houses exhibit an intricate alternating
desizn pattern, in an A-8-C-D scheme, which is repeated three times.
The entrances to the buildings and the roof cornices are srouped in
nairs.

The "A" and “C’ tyne facades each disnlay an oriel at the second
and third stories. The A" type oriel, seen at Nos. 452, 460 and 468,
is supported by an unusual, full-width, foliate corbel and is enframed
by slender pilasters terminatineg in a cornice carried on vertical con-
sole brackets. 1In contrast, the similar oriel of the ‘€ facade, at
ilos. 456. 464 and 472, has milasters at the second story and columns
at the third, where small lions® heads decorate the cornice which in
this case is supported on horizontal console brackets.

The I and * D’ tyns houses have flush facades, elaborately em-
bellished at the windows with stylized Renaissance ornament. Srooved
nilasters with Ionic capitals separate the sccond story windows of the
"B" tyne buildinos, which include Hos. 454, 462 and 470. Fluted lintels
crown the side windows, while a foliate nanel surmounts the center windows.
At the next story, thz windows have eared’ enfranevents with ecc-and-
dart moldinecs and are surmounted by foliate keystones flanked by crace-
ful ribbons. They are separatad by unusual fluted panels with fruit
motifs.



iiamilton i‘eiphts ifistorie District

VEST 142MD STRELT  (Between Convent and Amsterdan Avenuc)

"ne of the most notable features of the D type houscs, which
include Nos. 453 466, 474 and 476, is the triple window at the second
story. It has an ornate lintel and a cornice on consolz hrackets, sur-
rnounted at the center by a pediment with escutcheon. Inverted console
brackets above the cornice accentuate the brackets beneath them. The
third story windows have ‘‘carcd’ enframements with egr-and-dart moldines.

The raired doorways of thesc houses are the rmost strikine feature
of the row. They are arched and ragnificently ornanented in the Spanish
Penaissance tradition. The blind arches of the first pair have ornamental
escutcheons and their enframerments, which rest unon larpe console brackets,
are surmnounted by foliate kevstones. The second tyne of arched doorway,
with an elecant keystone flanked by foliate forms in bas-relief, is car-
ried unon pilasters which terwinates in stone candelabra.

The western—ost house, FHo. 476, now used as 2 rectory, effectively
terninates the row since it projects from the buildinec line to make the
transition to the corner amartment house on Ansterdam Avenue. The noly-
conal front of Ho. 476 adds an clement of diversity to the row, while re-
tainins the detail of the D tyne.

"MEST 143PD OF

(Between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues)

NORTIT CINDE ONLY  (Flos. 453-475)
(The corner house is described under Vo. 320 Convent Avenue.)

Mos. 453 and 455. These two rourh-faced limestone houses, desion-
ed by Paul ¥. Ti~ps in a late Pomanesque Revival style, were built in
1892-93 for D. J. Dwyer. They are an almost identical nair, except
for the fact that lMo. 453 has a three-sided, full-height bay, and the
bay of ilo. 455 is curved. The doorways are flanked by hrackets which
heln te support the shallow corbeled cornice slabs above therm. The
wide smooth bandcourscs scot between floor lavels of the houses con-
trast effectively with the rousher texture of the facades. The metal
roof cornices with fascin pancls of a wreath desion also cive these
houses an attractive quality. Addinc to the variety of textures are the
delicate foliate carvines at the first floors and stoops and the horizon-
tal moldinnss above and below the snandrels.,

¥ a B

JNos. 457 and 459. The next two buildings are also paired, and were
designed by the architects Thom § “flson for L. P. Teck. They were likewise
vrected in 1892-93. These brownstone houses are transitional in style fronm
the Romanesque Revival to the new Classicism of the 18%0s. The first and
third floor openinss are round-arched. The doorways are simnly enframed
by rore moldinss and carped by carved, foliate keystones, which also
appear above the first story windows. Low panels with wreath and ribbon
desirns further enhance these windows. At the second story, a curved
bay with three windows is ornamented by a swas and wreath design, repeated
at the fascia of the shect-nztal roof cornice.

Hos. 461 and 463. Auite sirmilar to their easterly neichbors, and
built at about the same time these Pomanesque Pevival town houses are
of smooth-faced brownstone and are anproached by L-shaned stoons. They
again display the typical round-arched doorways and third story windows.
The arches of these top story windows are carried unon short enramed

colunns and are grouned together under continuous arches with drip molds

-]1]=
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"EST 143RD STREET  (Between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues)

Fluted keystones crown each arch. The three arched windows of the second
story curved bay are separated by pilasters with carved canitals. The
sirplicity and solidity of these two facades contributes to their charm.

los. 465 and 467. Another nair of houses was built in 1895 for
Annie E. Ruddell accordinec to the desions of llenry Anderson in neo-
Renaissance style. lMo. 465 has a three-sided, full-heisht bay, while
part of the facade of llo. 467 projects to make the transition to the
buildine line of the houses to the west. Square-headed naired doorways
are approached by high stoons and arc crowned by an entablature with a
delicately carved frieze supported by console brackets. These two linme-
stonec buildinos disnlay careful attention to finely incised detail. The
first stories are rusticated with bandcourses featuring ccometric forms
above. "Nther noteworthy decorative features of these facades arc the
dianmer-patterned spandrel nanels set below the third story windows and
the ornate swa~s of the roof corner fascia

llos. 409-475. The stylistic variety of this row of four town houses,
built for Charles J. Judson accordinz to the desisns of Clarence True in
1394-96 . lends interest to this side of the street. These buildings have
limestone first stories, with brick above, excent for MNo. 469, which is
limestone full-heicht. HMNos. 469 and 475 display rough-faced stone at
sround level. ilo. 469 is differentiated from the others by having a three-
sided bay above the first floor. The keved window enframements and the
balustrades are reminiscent of French Classical prececdent. Three of the
buildings have dormer windows, with triancular pedinents and Gothic
trefoils, set in slate roofs, excent o. 475 which has an ornamented stone
gable. l!andsome bas-relief panels, swags, and nutti form a bandcourse
above the first story of lMNos. 469-473. The houses are entered just above
street level by low L-shaped stoons.

"EST 144TI' STREECT  (Between i‘amilton Terracc and Convent Avenue)

SMTH SIDE  (Hos. 413-426)
This most irpressive row of oray brick town houses, extending onto
ffamilton Terrace wvas desicned by Heville & Dagoe and erect:j by
henry "heeler Powell in 1297. The influence of the Frency Second
Enpire style is still evident here, desnite the late date. Most
characteristic are the steep mansard roofs and the termination of that
row by thc two end navilions at ilo. 72 'amilton Terrace and ilo. 426
“lest 144th Street--forming n coherent whole in the French tradition.

These Roman brick houses. with rusticated limestone at the first
floors, have handsorely enframed doorways with simple cornice-slabs
carried on console brackets. An ornamented frieze is set between the
cornice-slab and the ton of the door. The ornate corbasled windowsills
of the first story windows cive the facade a note of luxury. At the
second stories. a foliate bandcourse which extends around the row is
set between the windows and ornamented with a leaf-and-shield nattern.
Inverted volutes connect the bandcourse to all the second story windows
which are enframed by ecg-and-dart moldinss, reneatino those at the
doorways. The sreatest disnlay of ornament is concentrated at the third
story of the four center houses. liere, the three round-arched windows
share a common sill and are enfraomed by engaced Ionic columns, decorated
above the bases with fanciful ornament. The arched ene-anﬁ dart noldings
are crowned by cartouches in lieu of keystones.

-]2a



Yamilton ileishts [listoric District

VEST 1447 OTPEET  (Between tanilton Terrace and Convent Avenue)

)

By far the most striking featurc of this row is its nansard roof,
set z2bove a cornice carried on console brackets. The wide arched dormers
with Jonic pilasters lend ewphasis to the end pavilions. These sane
nilasters flank the two dorrers of the middle buildines and support tri-
ancular pediments. Extendine above the mansard roof is a delicate wroucht-
iron crestin~. which contril ites to the ornate character of these houses.

(The larse red brick mansion at the western end of this blockfront is
described under i'o. 339 Convent Avenuz.)

FORT SIDT (Ins. 413-427)

Hos. 413-423.  “ne of the most ornate rows in the Historic District

consists of six brick town houses. desisnail by T. i1, Dunn and erected
by A. ., Powell in 1523. Those residences, with those across the street,
form a handsomc eonclave closed by the north end of amilton Terrace.
The profusion of ornament the delicacy of the window znfrarenments and
he lisht-colored buildin~ raterials sive this eroun 2 varisty and rich-
ness which evoke Venetian Cothic, Italian fenaissance. and French
Renaissance styles of architecture. The houscs are constructed of Romon
brick with rusticatcd first stories sxcent at los. 417 and 423, where
broad bands of smeoth stoneverk are intersnersed by narrow, alternating
rouch-faced bands.

The first tuo houses, .'0s. 413 and 415, clearly exermlify the French
influence at the third stories. :lere ,stone balconics are carried on
elaboratc console brackets. set in front of trinle window units. These
windows are flanked by ornamcntal nilasters. which suprort nancled en-
tablatures crownsd by decorative shields. The building focades are
further embellished by wrenth-and-torch motifs sct betweer the second
story windows. Thase houses have rusticated first floors and doorways
enfrarned by enraced colurns ornanented with 2 diarond pattern nnd

amned by exceptionally high foliate kevstones.

tlo. 417 is identical to the westernost house of this row, o, 422,
Fere the influence of the Ven detian fothic is most amparent and con-
tributes to the clesance of these two facades. “ledieval Venice is
recalled at the third story in the tripartite wirdow unit. DProfusely
decorated cnramed columns support three blind osival arches, crowned
by finials. naeilow balconies of trofoil <lesion cormlete the commosition.
The decorat®@ nmee arches above the doorways. rerminiscent o the French
Renaissance style of Frangois I are carried on semi-encraged columns with
foliate canitals. A flattened version of the onee notif is reneated at
the first, sccond and fourth story windows. Theso two houses are
crowned by curved ~ables, with centrsl whe2l »motifs flanked by colonnettes.

los. 419 and 421 cioeorly exBiibit the influence of tiwe Italian
Penaissancce. tae ornarental pilasters flankine the doorwnvs nro rencated
at the socond story windows. where they Torm trirartite window units
similar ton those at the third stories of Tios. 413 and 415 The bal-
conies at the next story arec also like those at Hos. 413 and 415, while
the colurns flankin: the third story windows are siilar to those of
‘los. 417 and 423, The fourth story windows arc enfrared by €flat osee
arches crowned at the vntcr by finials. All the houses ave anrroached
by low dimnified stoon

Nos. 425-429. This dionified neo-Federal brick structure, six
storiégwﬁi%h_righnow knoun ns the Tollere View “ursinc Tore. The
easterniiost section was built in 1921 a®ter the desions of Rouse
foldstone and was oricinally called the Lutheran !'ospital. The late

£ the hosprital o, 4292 (747% Convent Avenue) was Jesioned by ke
is

an

jas)

4

nortion of
Torran 7. tunt T2. . Inc.., and erected iw 19533-31. The bUllLln”
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VEST 144Ti: “"MIET  (Cetween !amilton Terrace and Convent Avenuc)

divided vertically into three sections--a base, sha®t, and attic--by
strong horizontal elerments. The two-story basc, with round-archad win-
dows, is scparated from the central shiaft by a broad bandcourse of stone
upon which rest the tall slender nilasters which rise to neet the cornice
beneath the attic story. A handsome balustrade crowns the structurc.
A~ong the neo-Federal “zatures are the use of Flemish bond brickwork,

the keystones and imnost blocks of the first and second floor windows,

and the small stone vanels with swars set into the brickwork between
the fourth and fifth floors.

YEST 14470 STREET (Between Convent and Amsterdam Avenues)

This street is one of the most architecturally notable in the
"istoric District and indeed in tha Rorourh of ianhattan. The open
appearance of this scction of the District is larccly <ue to the thought-
ful »lannine of "illiam 7. "owbray, the architect of mest of the fine
residences which are set wcll back alons both sides of the strect. These
houses have raised stone terraces which sennrate the front yards from the
sidewalk. In addition. the over-all desi<n was carcfully adanted to con-
form with the urward slorz of the stroet from Convent “vanue to Amsterdan.
As a croun thesc residences arc extraordinarily picturzsauec, disnlaying a
rreat variety of rooflines huildine materials. colors and textures.
ifost retain their stoors and even their orisinal doors and hardware. The
influcnce of Dutch and Flemish architectural traditions is irnediately
evident  the Ponanesque, Gothic and Tudor styles wexre, however, the
rredoninant inspiration for the architect.

SOUTH CIDE (Vios. 452-474

o

Mos. 452-466. The cicht houses in this row were desicned by “illiam
T, Mowbray ant erected in 1899 for “illia= . YeFoarest, Jr.. an owner of
much of the nrorverty in the !"istoric Nistrict. The “acades exhibit a
great deal of variety =nd rarticularly show the influences of the Ronman-
esque and Tudor Revivals. ns well as some Gothic influence. Ho. 452 is
Tudor in character with a random ashlar base and parlor story, and yellow
brick abova. “Tuoins and keyed window trin enliven tho facades. A cor-
beled bmndcourse serarates first and

sacond stories art supnorts the
oable. The handsome trirle windows at the sccond and third stories have
heavy nasonry mullions ~nd trowrsos bars

At o, 454 which is oF snooth stonework at the first floor and
yellow brick above a Cothic influence may te seen in the low mointed
arch of the second story trinle window K with sunburst transonm panel,
and in the ccriclel nmasonry halcony. “me of the interestin~ features of
this house is the row of smnll, ﬂointec arch windows at the fourth story,
beneath tiie deerly rrojeﬁtxz" :‘vo o the himmed roof--which has its
zomanesque countermart at o,

,\

A
s,

The Gothic influence is even more nronounced at Mo, 456, All the
oneninss in the facade are nointed-arched  with dininative stone ribs,
and have transom bars. The first fiocor window has a hiandsore wroucht-iron
srille. This house is also of brici, with a smooth-facad first story and
second story oriel. A Turther medieval note is its crenellated narsnet
and slats roct above, sinilar to that at 'lo. 462. The stoon, in contrast
to the house at the east. is L-shaned.

i1 by
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WEST 1447 PTREET  (Cletween Convent and A-sterdar Avenues)

ilo. 458 is essentially sinilar in Jesien to lio. 452, with trinle
windows at the second an. thirvd stories but with a souare window in the
nointed gzble. in contrast to the arched one at !lo. 452. ilo. 460 is
rather sinilar to ilo. 453, excent €or the second story rojecting bay,
carried on stone corbels and the v»ointed-arch window in the ~able.

o, 462, 1like Ho. 460, is aphroac“ﬂ by a handsome L-shaned stone
stoor which faces tic one at i'o. 460. This brick Facade with trinle
windows at the urper storics is simply expressed with stone trin.

Ho. 456 and this house, with their Lr“nell ited roof parapets, flank the
two sabled liouses between then.

ilo. 464 is 2 handsome Nomenesaue Pevival house of yellow brick
with a brownstone narlor storv. Terc. the round-arched thene nrevails,
siven rhythric coherence by continuous drir nolds. Stained slass transons
apnear at the first and second story windows. At the fourth storv, five
small arched windows are scparated by sousre colwvwns. The buildins is
crowned by thiz deeply brﬁiﬂc ins eave of the red tile hivred roof with
sreen copper crestincs, surnlving a further note of color contrast to this
facade.

The dirnified residence at ‘fo. 466, with its randon ashlar first
story and yellow brick facaie above, hss a truly Tudor character. The

" tall windows of the princinal floors have stone rullions and two tran-

som bars scrarating tnvﬁn tiars of sash., The windows ars trirle at
the first floor and auxdirunle "t the unner floors, with continuous lintels
which extend the wiﬁt& of the facadn., The nointed sable is rierced by an
unusual stone oculus. The housc bas retained its handsone wide wood
doorway with ~ trinartite transor: asbove. The arcaway is enclosed by a
hizh wrought-iroen fence.

‘ios. 4605-474, These four brick, ornnesnue Revival houses were built
as a yow in 1.87-¢9, bhefore his row to the east. Sor “illian ©,
DeForest, Jr. who lived in one of these residences. Dasiecned by th
architect Varvey L. Tarme  each of the four houses has its own 1nu1v1dual
characteristics. Txe First two houses. 463 and 470, have recessed maired
entrances with semrentnl arches under a cormon roof . and  the windows of
the umner floors are alisned- however, ilo. 407 has a full-heisht, rolyson-
al bay. with open porch at the ton. The most intorestine feature of this
house is its sable, which has three windows ~rouped in the Palladiar ran-
ner, and is crowned by a terra-cotta conincs, finial, and ornate shouldercd
end blocks. In contrast a three-sided dorrer window is set into the
nitchad roof of llo. 479. /) two-story rectan~ul-~tr bay to the rieht of
the doorway, rises fror: a bold-faced stone arch and base and is crowned
by czst iren CTosii- iS5 . TR» rassiveness of these bases is further
ermiiasized by the attery . or outward slone of tha wnlls.

“ven oreater architcctural diversity mav be saen at o, 472, where a
shzzt —etal oricl at the sccond story acts as a base for the rarlanded
naranet of ths third story rorch. This =orch is recesse:d behind a wide
arch forred by thrae concentric bands of hrichwork. The curved corbel at
the base of this orlcl extends down tetweon the arched oneninegs of the
first floor. The gable of this house is similar to that of jlo. 474. na
beti are crowned bv terra-cotta finiels, with hicrh ornamental end Llock
resting on a lion's head above the leader box at “o. 472. ilo. 474 is an-
proaci:ed by an L-shaned bold-facced stoorn. The orisinality exhibited by
these houses nrovides this side of the street with a serics of nleasine
surnrises. The two-story rectanrular bay at the 1loft side. similar in
reverse to that at o, 470, terVinates in a stone bhalustrade at the third
floor. This introduczs 2 note of asymnetry to the facade of both housecs.
ht llo. 474 this is further emphasized by a srall balcony at the second
story which rests upon an ornate corbel hlock ahove the doorway. An

-stined stoop approaches the entrance in this westerpmest house of the row.

<IE.,



Hamilton Peichts

HRET 1447 STREET (Petween Convent and

rmsterdan Avenies)

HORTH CIDE (lios. 449%-475)

Jlos 449-4%51 are described under llos. 340-344 Convent Avenue.)

los, 453-467. hese eight brick town houses, which show the influcnce
of the Tudor and Flemish Nevival stvles, forn one of the most notable rows
in the listoric District. These houses, all set back behind stones

terraces and apprcached by stooms, wore ovmed and designed by ''illiam [,
“owbray. the architect of the houses directly acress the street, and were
erected in 1826-90. Tley arc armons the earliest vows in the district.

ilo. 453 reflects the influence of the Tudor stvle, since the medieval
half-timberine technicue is here translated into brick and stone. The
roof oabla, Ornamented with two mannls bearine the date of 1387 | is carried
on stone brackets. /A larmer tyne o7 hracket summorts a cornice over the
three-sided metnl bay window at the second story. The first floor, in con-
trast to the yellow brick above, -is constructed of cray randon ashlar. The
square-headed openin~s have transons.

The rext buildine, o, 455, is »lso Tudor in character and disnlays the
nodern intel;ret3510u cf hinl”-tirbering executcd in 5to e cet in the brick-
work. At the second story. the bonds “lankins the window are curved. The
arched doorwnv and wide first story window have wood t sor hars. The
nost striking ‘eature of this house is the tripartite rouplnrr of the upner
story windows. At the second story the windows have stons transom bars
carried on stone rmllions. while tha low thind story windows have stone
mullions and project uvn into the reoflines 1sfbad of a stone gable, this
house, which is lower in height than :lo. 453, has a hipned roof set into
the nain slone of the roof.

.y
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The next four houses, lns. 457-46%, sre nriwarjiy neo-Flemish in
character as shown by their ﬂ*oﬂ ant curved ecaliles. HMNo.U5T is
tinrsuished by the unusual bolﬂ ry
first story and bv its elecant
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story Palladian window. The stone
quoins and bandcourses szt into > rod brickwork lend animation to the
facade. The curvilinear gsble wvises oracefully out of the third story of
the building and ends in a s»all trian-ular naedisent with a central blind
oculus and terra-cotta swac,

At Ho. 459, the gable : traditienal Dutch sterrmed tyre,
with a decoratcd stone pnnel sot i i Thz Palladian window notif is
repeated at tie fourt tory of the house, while the trinartite rullioned
windows of the two > ke the Tudeor style of tlo. 455.

61, are constructed of banded
are the tallest houses in the
this sroun. Tthe stemmazd cable

. arched reiinent, and disnlavs handsorme
Ctorv windois. A cornicoe carried on
betwaen the third and fourth stories and
the windows.

This house
yvallow brick
row and are
of ilo. 4561 is
terra-cotta panzls
corbels oxtends across
shelters & terrva-cotta

The nco-Flenislh mode is also anparent in the curvilinear wable of Mo.
4%, This rad brick nouse is Jdi““arentiatedc fron the others in the row by
the very wide arch at the first floor. embracine two windows, and the blind
archied window at the third story, ornamented witihh o lion's head terra-cotta
tyrnanum, The three-sided sheet-mctal Loy window at the second story adds
to the stylistic diversity of this facade.

Thz westernnost two houses in this row are Tudor in stvle and balance
the two Tudor houscs ot the other ersl of the row. io. 4565 is of dark red
brick waile .lo. 447 is constructed of vellow brick, and both have random
ashlar first floors. Stone bands set into the brickwork acain recall the
hnlf-timberine of medieval TFnsland. The ton floor and eable of lio. 465 are
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Vamilton teicshts iiistorical District

TRET 144TL STRLET (etween Convent and Amstordas Avenues:

IYRTH SIDE (Clos., 449-475)

set above larce foliate brackets suprporting 2 cornice. The sccond story,
three-sided sheet-metal bav window is below a »air of stone cargovles
beneath this cornice. The cable is nierced by an oculus flanked by curved
stone bands. Doth thie facades of these houses are extensively embellished
by deerly projectine window lintels. The thivd story window unit of
Ho. 467 exhibits handsonely decorated s»andrel nanels of terra cotta below
it and a corbeled comer cornice crowns the asiilar nasonry of the first
floor. N

os. 4OU-475, This row of four brownstone houses,erected in 1396 fron
designs by leville & Papgce, is cormrletely differcnt in style frorm its
picturesaue necizhber teo the east. Tho style is basically neo-classical, with
certain features which derive fron the Ronanesque Revival. The ”°§§1V°
character of the row, the rusticated basement, the narrow rouch-face: band-
ino. and the carviny crovming the »niers between the window are ?omanesque
featuras. Larte corbels sunport the full-width, -three-sided bays of the
urner floors. FOllnLG noldings may be seern at the doorways an’ narlor

floor windows. Thz bayvs are ornamerted with elerantly carved bandcourses
at the bases unﬁ w1+q elaborated snandrel narcls beneath the third story
windows. Io. 475 projects fron the row in order to make the transition

fror the row to the corner apartien®t lLouse on Amst aiv fvenue. Handsome
sheet-metal roof cornices with classical swags in the frieze crown these
buildings.
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CONVENT AVENUE

This tree-lined residentizl avenue, extending northward from the gateway
of the City College carmus, is the spine of this Historic District. It is one
of the most attractive streets in the District, with lone rows of fine
residences set well back from the street. The east side of the avenue is
defined at each end of the District by a handsome church, a pattern often
followed in the late 19th century. amilton Grange, which gave its name to
the Historic District, is located just north of the intersection of Convent
Avenue and iest 1l41st Street, between structures of a much later date, and
serves as a reminder of the early history of the area.

Convent Avenue was named after the Convent of the Sacred Heart, esta-
blished in 1847 on a larse rural tract bounded by the present 126th and
137th Streets on tie scuth and north, and St. Nicholas Terrace and Convent
Avenue on the east and west, part of which is now the site of the South
Campus of City College.

CONVEHT AVLHUE, (Between Jest 141st and 144th Streets)

EAST SIDE (Wos. 285-330

Ho. 285. ©St. Luke's Episcopal Church, one of the rost impressive
Romanesque Revival churches in the City, was built in 1892-95 and designed
by one of iianhattan®s lezading church architects, Robert II. Robertson. Ie
was 20 associate of the distinsuished architect '/illiam Appleton Potter,
and he also desisned St. ilartin's Church in the llount Horris Park tistoric
District. &t. Luke's, a brownstone church, is massive in scale and volune.
It recalls the work of Henry Hobson Richardson, the leader of the Romanesque
Revival movement in America. The beautifully cexecuted bold-faced stonework,
making the most of textural contrasts, nas flush-faced trirm, which is bush-
hamiiered and tooled.

The vrincinal facade o° this bold structure is nade up o7 a series of
well-integrated units. One of its strilking features is the curved entrance
porch. %he wide arciies of this porch, emhasized by continuous cdrip
moldings, rest on columns. Two arche! doorways at tiwe rear, one of which
is the main entrance to tue caurch, nave handsome oak dJdoors. * cornice with
bold corbels extenis around the top of the rorcihi and suprorts its slopinc
roof.

The beautifully cormnosed end wall of the nave, risinpy above the porcii,
is the focal woint of the facaie. Five narrow slit windows set into tiie
zable provide a contrast in scale to the five tall arched windows above the
porcii. ‘iiese windows, separated by miers with enrared colurns, are given
added ermpiiasis by their crownins drip roldincs.

#t tihe northeast corner of 1l4lst Street and Comvent Avenue, a projectine
scction--originally planned to incorporate a tower--features a dJdoorway en-
frared by o series of inset round arches and crowned by a smooth stone rable,
The mosaic in the ty'manw: above the door adds an element of bri~ht contrast-
inz color to tihe Ffacaue.

£ slender volyrsonal bell tower rises to the left of the nave. Tall
arched oneninss ennance the ton, while molded brick colonnettes extend the
full heilht of the tower at each corner.

The chiurch extends alen~ the entire blockfront of 141st Street between
Convant Avenue and ianilton Terrace. On the 1ld4lst Street sidz  the church
has another entrance beyoud tie nrojecting section, anrroached by au
L-shaped stoop. The stained ~lass windows of tiie nave, which are round-
arched with smooth stone enfrarements, extend alonj this side. with trinle
clerestory window units atove theun.
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COHVENT AVEHNUE (Between Yest 141st and 144th Strects)

The wall of the transept is highlighted by a larse rose window set below
the sable which is pierced by threce small round-arched windows treated as
a single unit. A horizontal band of windows below is separated by piers
with engaged colomnettes, a feature repeated in the low adjoining gabled
section.

The apse of the church, risin’ to a great height, doninates !lamilton
Terrace. The ronumental scale of the building is most apparent here. The
anse, set upon a fieldstone base, has massive walls like those of a nilitary
fortification, so iupenetrable do they apncar. The unper section of the
apse with snoother variegated brownstone walls, pierced by tall, narrow,
stained glass arched windows, provides a subtle contrast to the more
Tugzed character of the base of the apse.

A rsabled porch with round arches set on columns distinsuishes the rear
entrance. The porch adjoins a snall turvet with a doorway at its base
containins a handsorie wrousht-iron c¢oor. This doorway is approached by a
rugsed brownstone stoop.

A fine wrought-iron fence encloses the yard at the rear of the church.

fio. 2587. Liamilton Grange, a two-story framc house, is one of the City's
najor historical treasures. Built in 1201 for Alexander [iamilton, one of
the nation's founding fathers, it was designated a ilew York City Landmark
in 1967 because of its historical and architectural significance. It is
one of the few surviving Federal style country residences in the City, and
its design has been attributed to John “icCormb, Jr., best known as the co-
architect of City liall.

In 1889, The Gran~e was woved from a site nearby to its present
location. It served as a chapel for St. Luke's while the church was under
construction and later as a rcctory. CEince 1965, it has been operated as
a house nuseun by the Mational Park Service, 2 division of the United States
Departnent of the Interior, as the ilamilton Grance Notional lemorial. It
is well-kiiown throuriiout the land and is on the liational Pesister of
listoric Places.

The local corimunity is justly proud of the fact that iamilton Granre
lies within the liistoric District. The Hanilton Heichts liistoric District
derives its narne from this famous house. The Grange serves as a re-inder,
within the urban settinz, of the original countrified appearance of this
section of the City and of its historical sirnificance as [lanilton's country
seat.

(ilos. 239-309, which include three large apartnent houses, are outside
of the ilistoric District.)

Nos. 311-329. This lon~» row of fifteen nicturesaue houses, set behind
front yards, and separated from the sidewalk by raised terraces, was
erected between 18387-90 for Jacob D. futler, a realtor, fron the desions of
the architect Adolph lioak. A variety of styles are represented by these
houses, which include the Flemish, Tudor, and NRomanesque Revival, expressed
in the materials, colors, and textures employed. Attention focuses in-
nediately upon the dlxer51ty of the rooflines, silhouetted jgainst the

sky--l:ere arc triznenlar and stermed gables and hipned roofs, all having
dorrmer windows and chinmeys. The oversll effoct of these dl‘ferent T00*
desions contributes to the chari of tais row of residences. These houses
display an intercstins combination of brick and stone. The basements.

of brownstone cenerally alternate between smooth-faced ashlar and bold-faced
randon ashlar. Han.some DNonanesque Pevival type stcons of brownstone
alternatc bLetween straiﬂht and L-shaped. Excludin: the two end residences,
they are laid out in a symmetrical A-B-C-D-E-F-G-F-E-D-C-5-A pattern aronnd
the center "G type house, ilo. 325.

-
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CONVENT AVENUE (Eetween '"est 141st and 144th Strcets)

No. 311. This late Romanesque Revival house of brick displays an
interesting half-timbered effect executed in stone. All of the openings
are square-headed. A shallow rectangular bay extends through the second
and third stories. The top story windows are separated by brownstone columns
with foliate capitals. creating a loogia effect. The dormer window of
copper is crowned by a large triangular pediment and flanked by a curvilinear
shoulder, all ornamented in bas-relief.

The A" type house, at los. 313 and 337, is basically late Romanesque
Revival, with a Dutch Revival stepped gable. This stepped gable is pierced
by a narrow, arched center window flanked by small square windows treated as
a unit. A restful effect is produced by the wide expanse of brick between
two round-arched windows at the third story. The red brick facade is
animated by the decorative rough-faced brownstone at the first story and
by wide checkerboard bandcourses above and below the second story windows.
An usual flat-arch double window has 2 tapered colonnette at the nullion.
Pomanesque Revival foliate inpost blocks accentuate the parlor floor.

The type "B" facade, at los. 315 and 335, is late Ronanesque Revival
in style and displays an effective contrast between its wide, projecting
three-sided bay at tlie second story, supported on an ornately carved corbel,
and its wide-arched, deeply recessed porch with openwork brick railing.

'The pyranidal gable of slate, with comper edgings, is crownad by a finial
at the apex. A charming feature of this roof is the ‘‘eyebrow’ dormer.

The “C’ type facade, at Hos. 317 and 333, Romanesque Revival at the
first floor, is reniniscent of Flemish antecedents above, particularly at
the gable. The first story triple window has arched units with stained
glass above, set beneath a broad three-centered masonry arch. The contrast
of brick and narrow brownstone bands at the second and third stories
enlivens this facade. Flanking the central windows, shallow piers rise

up to support the pediment of the ornate gable flanked by curved haunches
and balls.

Type "D, at Nos. 312 and 331, is of brownstone at the first story
with brick above. A two-story rectangular bay is the main feature of the
facade. Supported on foliate corbel blocks, this bay is designed with
stonework at the openings keyed to the brickwork. A losgia with a brick
openwork balcony is supported by Romanesque Revival columns. The pyranidal
roof is similar to that of Type "B and contrasts effectively with the
loggia. It indicates clearly the freedom with which architects of the
period combined different architectural elements.
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COHVENT AVEMNUE  (Between West 141st and 144th Ctreets)

The stepped gable of the "L type facade, at Nos. 321 and 329,
is similar to that of the A" type, but the rest of the facade differs
fron it. This further illustrates the great varicty within this row.
tiere, the brownstone first story is decorated with larze foliate inpost
blocks beneath the flat arches of the openings, while the upper stories
are of brick with brownstone trin. It displays Romanesque Revival
ornament. [io. 321 is now the Elizabeth flayfield Nursery School.

Type “F, at llos. 323 and 227, is a fascinatine translation of
Tudor nal®-timber into brick and stone. The narrow bold-faced stone
coursing interlocks handsomely with the smooth-faced, stepped voussoirs
of the basenent window. The slender brackets supnorting the third
story overhana, a feature repeated under the gable, are sinilar in
proportion and detail. The gable is pierced by a double window with
a projecting lintel carried on brackets. The sinplicity and
straightforward character of this yellow brick facade is a refreshing
elenent in the row and contributes to the diversity found alons this
side of the street.

The "3+ type, Ho. 325, is the central housc of the row. It differs
in design from all the othier houses, although it is Ronanesque Pevival in
style. It coabines a variety of architectural elements. The rectansular
bay is curved at the ends and supported by an ornately carved corbel.
Above it is a balcony servinc a wide arched window enfraned by smooth
stone voussoirs with a larze keystone. The small windows set into the

: |

sterped sdble are coparated by colonnettes.

fo. 339, which terminates the blockfront, is an impressive mansion.
A picturesque, full-height corner tower masterfully ends this row of
buildings and provides a welcorme architcctural feature, once echoed on
both houses across the avenue. Crowned by a high conical slate roof,
the tower is capped by an ornate conper crestins and decorated by
carved spandr.l panels beneath the second story windows. )
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COVEHNT AVEIUE (Detween Vest 141st and 144th Street)

CAST SIDE (Mo. 235-339)

This house, which is of red brick with brownstone trim is of late
Rormanesque Revival desicon and is enclosed by a handsome wroucht-iron fence.
The entrance. amproached by an L-shaped brownstone stoop, is on 144th Street.
The doorwav is coupled with a window of equal size, beneath a brownstone
bandcourse-lintel which continues around the house. Three engaced colennettes
with shared ~basket ' capitals separate the doorway and window, a motif which

is rereated at the two snall windows above. To the left of the doorway, a
three-sided bay extends un three stories and cffectively balances the

corner tower. Three banded columns divide the top story windows. Above

tha bay rises a stepped, Dutch-type cable flanked by carved finials, with

a central arched window. The steep slate roof has pedimented copper dorner
windows and a high rear chimmey, with its flues expressed in vertical brick-
work above a small round-arched window and a painted terra-cotta plaque.

A two-story rear extension has small stained glass windows. The first

story windows of the mansion also have stained cslass in the transoms

which, in true Mowmanesque Revival manner, arc set above stone transom

bars. The groupins of the windows in the tower and bay 270 uce ths corposi-
tion of the buildincs, which is one of the finest examples of its style
survivine in the City.

COVENT AV

E (Between "Test 141st and 142nd Streets)

MReT SIDE (Mlos. 280-293

Althourh these ten linestone houses, annroached by exceptionally high
stoops, were all designed by Ilenri Vouchaux and erected in 18992-1902 for
. and !'. Sonn. they ave differentizted from one another by verious features
of their facades. The houses are arranced in an A-D-C-D-E-E-D-C-EF-A pattern
and are lavishly emb2llished with Deaux-Arts style ornament.

Hos 280 and 298 the " A' tyre, arce individualized by three-story bays
wiich arc 1. . 5o 2lvdecorated with laree keystones and scrolled brackets.
n the 1l41st ftreet side of Ho. 2720 (Alumi louse) elongated oculi flank
tlie handsone doorway and an elesant arched pediment is expressed on the
second story. The buildins is crowned by an elcoant cornice, embellished
with lions' heads, carried on rodillions above dentils, and a finely orna-
mented fricze.

The "B’ type house, at Nos. 282 and 296, is distinouished by the
stone balcony at the second story, above which is a slazed looria with
engaged columns set between the windows. These two houses, tocether with
flos. 286 and 292, display unusual roof cornices featurins panels set
between dropped trislyrhs with suttae.

“ne of the nost ornate facades is type "C¥ at ilos. 234 and 294. The
windows of the first story are arched and a large keystone acts as a
scrolled bracket supporting the base of the aedicule, or central niche,
above. Two Ionic columns flank this niche, which is crowned by a
decorative archec pediment. At the third story, two scts of paired win-
dows are separated by a blind oculus, set against a fluted, pancled back-
ground. The profusion of claborate ornament on these two facades give
then a most luxurious quality, typical of the Beaux-Arts style.

The "D" type facade at MNos. 286 and 292 is plainer in over-all
design. tlere the principal feature is the second story curved bay carried
on nassive scrolled brackets. Decorative bandcourses with Greek motifs
embellish the base. A glazed logsia with colurmns set between the windows

Lo

is the feature at the third story.
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COMVENT AVENUE (Between ''est 141st and 142nd Streets)

In the center of this long row is the lavishly ornamented 'E" type
facade, Hos. 288 and 290. The first story windows have prominent key-
stones. The second story is the focal noint of the facade and is given
special enmphasis by the center window which is crowned by a triangular
pedirent carried on large brackets. These two buildings are flanked by
high chimneys, whose ribs extend down to the corbels set in the walls of
the third story.

Mo. 298 is entered from the 142nd Street side. It is approached by
an impressive L-shaped stoop ornamented with stone spheres. Foliate cor-
bels support the base of the pilasters carrying an arched pedinment at the
second story.

COMNVENT AVEMUE (Between "est 142nd Street and 142rd Streets)

MEST SIDE (Nos. 302-310)

(These two large apartment houses which occupy the blockfront are outside
of the liistoric District.)

CONVENT AVEIUE - (Between ‘lest 143rd and 144th Streets)

WEST SIDE (flos. 320-336)

These handsone residences, balancing those across the street, are
extrenely dignified. Euilt in the early 1890s, they illustrate the individ-
uality of expression which was so typical of this period. The houses, like
those across the avenue, are set well back from the street.

Hos. 320-323. Boldly donminating the corner of Convent Avenue and
Wlest 143rd Street, MNo. 320 was erected in 1890 after the designs of Horace B.
Hartwell. It is part of a row of five residences on the avenuc built for
Louise 'arie llartwell. This handsome house, which is of limestone at the
first story and yellow brick above, is basically late Romanesque Revival,
The most striking feature is the full-heicht, curved corner bay with a
conical slate roof, which balances the tower at the 144th Street end of
this blockfront. The entrance on 143rd Street is set behind a porch
carried on paired columns. To the left, a shallow curved bay with ornate
mullions and leaded glass windows rises two stories. The bay is enframed
by a bead-and-reel molding ond is crowned by a cornice set on console
brackets. The roof dorner windows at the roof are one of the most notable
features of the house. The one above the shallow bay is capped by a tri-
angular pedinent and flanked by curvilinear shoulders, while the other
dornmers are iore simply flanked by nilasters with elegant shell notif

finials. The house has tall brick chimneys rising above the roof, once a
feature of the rest of the row.

Considerable variety nay be noted at Nos. 322-323, which have stone-
faced first storiec with brick above. Apnroached by hisgh straisht stone
stoops with handsome carved newel posts, Nos. 322 and 326 are almost
identical and are late Romanesque Revival. Characteristic of this style
are the rough-faced basement walls, the shape of the onenings and the
ornamental carvings. The openings at the parlor floor, with flat brick
arches, are unified by horizontal stone transom bars and are supported by
pilasters with "basket’ canitals. A corbeled sill at each house unifies the
three second story windows which have delicately carved impost blocks. The
shouldered brick gable crowning the house is one of its most charming
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COMVENT AVENUE (Between Vest 143Zrd and 144th Streets)

features, pierced by a round-arched window with an ornate drip-mold and a
corbeled sill. The corbel-type leader boxes, at the base of the steeply
pitched roof, provide a subtle note of interest.

No. 324, the center house of the row is of limestone with brick at
the second floor only. Here, the influence of the late phase of the
Romanesque Revival is especially apparent in the arched openings of the
parlor floor and in the wide arch of the third story. This arch is en-
framed by smooth voussoirs contrasted with its elaboratecly carved spandrel
panels and keystone. Directly below it, a shallow rectangular bay displays
a band of similar carved ornament and is supported on zlongated curvilinear
brackets. A double dormer in the steep hipped roof is flanked by pilasters
and crowned by a gracefully curved nediment with a modified sea-shell motif,

Ho. 328, the last house in this row, has a roof and dormer window
sinilar to those of No. 324, but the rest of the house is substantially
different. A curved two-story bay terminates this flush-fronted row and
reneats the curved bay and yellow brick of No. 320. This b